2016

Goldenwest Federal Credit Union, a Utah Corporation, Plaintiff and Appellant v. Kathleen Kenworthy, Defendant and Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to UTAH CODE ANN. § 78A-3-102(3)(j) and (4).

STATEMENT OF QUESTIONS PRESENTED

Issue #1

Whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment, concluding this action was barred by Goldenwest's failure to timely commence this action under UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-2-307.

Standard of Review

"An appellate court reviews a trial court's legal conclusions and ultimate grant or denial of summary judgment for correctness and views the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. We review matters of statutory construction for correctness." Salt Lake City Corp. v. Haik, 334 P.3d 490, 494 2014 UT App 193, ¶ 8.

Issue #2

Whether a genuine issue of material facts exists concerning whether the agreement for Ms. Kenworthy to pay \$200 per month was a separate oral agreement or modification of the written contract between Ms. Kenworthy and Goldenwest.

Standard of Review

"The issue of whether a contract exists may present both questions of law and fact, depending on the nature of the claims raised. Thus, our standard of review for

this issue turns on whether the claim is one of fact or law, because a ruling on whether a contract exists may embody several subsidiary rulings. The trial court first finds the facts to which the law will be applied, and then it applies the law to those facts to reach a conclusion of law.” Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George, 865 P.2d 1373, 1375 (Utah App. 1993).

Issue #3

Whether the trial court erred in awarding attorney fees to Ms. Kenworthy, as the prevailing party under the contract.

Standard of Review

“Whether attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law, which we review for correctness. ...the determination of which party prevailed in a civil action--and thus may be entitled to attorney fees--is reviewed for an abuse of discretion.” Federated Capital Corp. v. Haner, 351 P.3d 816, 819, 2015 UT App. 132, ¶ 9.

STATUTES, RULES & REGULATIONS

U.R.C.P. 78B-2-113. Effect of payment, acknowledgment, or promise to pay.

(1) An action for recovery of a debt may be brought within the applicable statute of limitations from the date:

- (a) the debt arose;
- (b) a written acknowledgment of the debt or a promise to pay is made by the debtor; or
- (c) a payment is made on the debt by the debtor.

U.R.C.P. 78B-2-307. Within four years.

An action may be brought within four years:

- (1) after the last charge is made or the last payment is received:
 - (a) upon a contract, obligation, or liability not founded upon an instrument in writing;
 - (b) on an open store account for any goods, wares, or merchandise; or
 - (c) on an open account for work, labor or services rendered, or materials furnished;
- (2) for a claim for relief or a cause of action under the following sections of Title 25, Chapter 6, Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act:
 - (a) Subsection 25-6-5(1)(a), which in specific situations limits the time for action to one year, under Section 25-6-10;
 - (b) Subsection 25-6-5(1)(b); or
 - (c) Subsection 25-6-6(1); and
- (3) for relief not otherwise provided for by law.

U.R.C.P. 78B-2-309. Within six years -- Mesne profits of real property -- Instrument in writing.

An action may be brought within six years:

- (1) for the mesne profits of real property;
- (2) upon any contract, obligation, or liability founded upon an instrument in writing, except those mentioned in Section 78B-2-311; and
- (3) to recover fire suppression costs or other damages caused by wildland fire.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE **PROCEDURAL HISTORY**

1. On May 13, 2014, Plaintiff, Goldenwest Federal Credit Union (“Goldenwest”), commenced this action by serving default Defendant, Kathleen Kenworthy (“Ms. Kenworthy”), with a 10-day Summons and Complaint, then filing the Complaint on May 15, 2014. [R. 168 Finding of Fact #10]
2. On December 22, 2014, the court entered a Ruling and Order granting Ms. Kenworthy’s Motion for Summary Judgment (the “Ruling”). [R. 168]
3. On February 24, 2015, Ms. Kenworthy moved for an award of attorney

fees, pursuant to the terms of her written agreement with Goldenwest. [R. 175-202]

4. On April 14, 2015, after Goldenwest, represented by prior counsel, failed to object to Ms. Kenworthy's Motion for Attorney Fees, the court entered an order awarding fees to Ms. Kenworthy. [R. 210-213]

5. Goldenwest filed its Notice of Appeal on May 11, 2015. [R. 214-217]

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The decision of the trial court was based on the following undisputed facts which are relevant to this appeal:

1. Goldenwest and Ms. Kenworthy entered into a loan agreement (the "Original Agreement") on April 24, 2006. [R. 167]

2. On May 9, 2008, the Parties orally agreed to Ms. Kenworthy's repayment of debt in the amount of \$200 per month. [R. 168]

3. On May 9, 2008, Ms. Kenworthy paid Goldenwest \$200. [R. 168]

4. Ms. Kenworthy made no payments to Goldenwest after May 9, 2008. [R. 168]

5. The alleged debt at issue in the Complaint arose before May 12, 2008. [R. 168]

6. Goldenwest served Ms. Kenworthy with a Complaint for the present case on May 13, 2014, and filed the Complaint with this Court on May 15, 2014. [R. 168]

7. Ms. Kenworthy made the \$200 payment by credit card and a copy of the

credit card receipt was submitted without objection as Exhibit "A" to the Affidavit of Shanna Howell, filed with Goldenwest's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Summary Judgment. [R. 84-87, Affidavit ¶5]

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After defaulting on her vehicle loan, Ms. Kenworthy orally agreed to modify her monthly payments from \$487.21 per month, due by the 15th day of each month; to \$200 per month, also due on or before the 15th day of the month. Ms. Kenworthy made the first modified payment on May 9, 2008. When Ms. Kenworthy failed to make her next scheduled payment on June 15, 2008, she breached the Contract and the cause of action accrued on June 16, 2008. Since Ms. Kenworthy's loan was formalized in a written agreement, Goldenwest had until June 16, 2014, to commence an action to enforce the Loan Agreement. By filing its lawsuit on May 13, 2014, Goldenwest timely commenced this action and the trial court's conclusion that the Complaint was untimely should be reversed.

Since the award of attorney fees is based upon a written agreement, if this Court reverses the trial court's ruling that the Complaint was untimely, the award of attorney fees to Kenworthy must also be reversed.

ARGUMENT

A. THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS DID NOT RUN BEFORE THIS ACTION WAS COMMENCED.

On April 24, 2006, the parties entered into the Original Agreement to finance

the purchase of a vehicle. The Original Agreement required Ms. Kenworthy to repay the loan in installments of \$487.21 per month by the 15th day of the month. Payments were made until February 15, 2008. On May 9, 2008, Ms. Kenworthy contacted Goldenwest to discuss her financial problems and inability to pay the monthly installments. At that time, the parties orally agreed to reduce Ms. Kenworthy's monthly payments to \$200, with the payments still due by the 15th day of the month.

In Utah, "Civil actions may be commenced . . . after the cause of action has accrued." UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B-2-102. A cause of action for breach of contract accrues when the contract is breached. Stillwell v. People's Bldg., Loan & Sav. Ass'n, 57 P. 14, 17 (Utah 1899) ("Before breach of contract no cause of action accrues.") A cause of action related to a debt does not accrue until a payment is due and owing, because it is only at that point, that a party may attempt to enforce the agreement. Butcher v. Gilroy, 744 P.2d 311,313 (Utah Ct. App. 1987) ("Ordinarily a cause of action for a debt begins to run when the debt is due and payable because at that time an action can be maintained to enforce it." (Internal quotation marks omitted); Fredericksen v. Knight Land Corp., 667 P.2d 34, 36 (Utah 1983). Utah appellate courts recognize that breach occurs in installment contracts when the installment is due. Moab Nat. Bank v. Keystone-Wallace Resources, 517 P.2d 1020, 30 Utah 2d 330 (Utah 1973). The proper application of this principal on similar facts is found in Farmers and Merchants Bank v. Templeton, 646 S.W.2d 920 (Tenn.App.

1982).

In Templeton, the Tennessee Court of Appeals was asked to apply its six (6) year statute of limitations for written contracts to default of payments of an installment note. In Templeton, three (3) installments were not fully paid, but an action was not brought until eight (8) years after the first installment was missed. In concluding the lawsuit was untimely as to the first two installments, the court stated, “[t]he determinative issue in this case is when did the cause of action accrue.” The court then held:

Furthermore, the cause of action accrues on each installment when it becomes due and the Statute begins to run from that moment on that installment. Further, suit may be brought in successive actions upon each default in an installment for the amount of that defaulted installment. Whether or not the note contains an acceleration clause, exercised or not, is of no moment to the defaulted installment. All the acceleration clause does is accelerate the due date of future installments to the date of the exercise of the right of acceleration. Therefore, the cause of action accrued on the 1972 and 1973 installments in December of each of those years. The accrual of the right of action for each of those installments occurred more than six years prior to the filing of this suit.

Id. at 923.

This is consistent with the common law rule that, “[i]n the case of an obligation payable in installments, the statute of limitations runs against each installment from the time it becomes due, that is, from the time when an action might be brought to recover it.” 51 Am Jur 2d, Limitation of Actions, § 133. Moreover, where an installment contract contains an acceleration clause, the cause of action does

not accrue as to installments, which are not due until those installments are accelerated. Id.

Here, the trial court appears to have become confused by the effect of the oral agreement to reduce monthly payments to \$200. The trial court's confusion appears to come from its misinterpretation of UTAH CODE ANN § 78B-2-113(1), which states:

An action for recovery of a debt may be brought within the applicable statute of limitations from the date:

- (a) the debt arose;
- (b) a written acknowledgment of the debt or a promise to pay is made by the debtor; or
- (c) a payment is made on the debt by the debtor.

On Page 4 of the Ruling [R. 170], the trial court states, “[t]he parties entered into the Original Agreement on April 24, 2006 and the statute of limitations began running as of that date under §78B-2-113(1)(a), when the ‘debt arose’”. The trial court's failure to properly interpret the meaning of the term “debt arose” is the basis of the trial court's misapplication of the statute of limitations. By saying the “debt” arose on April 24, 2006 – the date Ms. Kenworthy signed the note, the trial court equated “debt arose” with “obligation begins.” Goldenwest equates the term “debt arose” with “performance due.”

Because of its erroneous interpretation of section §78B-2-113(1)(a), the trial court misapplied this section by concluding the debt arose under §78B-2-113(1)(a) on April 24, 2006, and renewed with each monthly payment until February 15, 2008, when Ms. Kenworthy missed her first payment. [R. 169] The trial court does not

explain whether it chose to run the statute on February 15, 2008 (the due date of the first missed payment), or the day after the January 2008 payment. Either way, the court appears to have concluded the six (6) year limitation period ended no later than February 15, 2014, and since this action commenced on May 13, 2014, it was late. Moreover, the court interpreted the term “debt arose” to mean the entire remaining balance of the loan, and not the amount of an overdue installment. Therefore, the court effectively accelerated the entire debt in January or February of 2008 and ran the statute on the full unpaid balance. [R. 169-170]

Goldenwest takes exception with this conclusion because it neglects to properly analyze that this was an installment agreement and several installments are within the six (6) year statute of limitations because of the oral agreement modifying the monthly payment.

1. The modification cured the breach.

When Ms. Kenworthy missed her installment payment on February 15, 2008, she was in breach as to that payment. She similarly defaulted on her March 15 and April 15, 2008, payments. Therefore, when she and Goldenwest agreed to reduce her monthly payment in May 2008 and she paid \$200 on May 9, 2008, she was not in breach of the May payment. However, that was her last payment and she subsequently missed all other installments. Those installments either came due on the 15th day of each succeeding month or if/when Goldenwest accelerated the debt.

However, the trial court had no evidence and made no finding that the debt was accelerated before May 14, 2008 (six years before this action was filed.) Indeed, the trial court concluded, from the undisputed facts, that Ms. Kenworthy's payments would be \$200 per month until the loan was fully paid. [R. 168, ¶2] From that finding, it is clear that the debt was not accelerated and the revised payment arrangement cured Ms. Kenworthy's prior breach by allowing her to pay the balance in monthly installments of \$200. Thus, until Ms. Kenworthy breached her payment on June 15, 2008, Goldenwest had no cause of action. Accordingly, the only remaining question for this Court is the effect, if any, of the oral agreement on the statute of limitations.

2. The modification did not remove the written agreement from the statute of limitations for a written contract.

From Goldenwest's perspective, its agreement to reduce the monthly payment to \$200, together with Ms. Kenworthy's payment of \$200 on May 9, 2008; was a modification of the contract, which cured her prior breach and tolled the statute of limitations until June 16, 2018, the day after Ms. Kenworthy missed her next scheduled payment.

In its ruling, the trial court did not decide whether the agreement to pay \$200 was a separate oral agreement or a modification of a written agreement because the court concluded that either way, it was governed by the four (4) year statute of limitations found in UTAH CODE ANN. § 78B -2-307(1)(a). The court stated:

If [the payment reduction was] a new oral agreement, the renewal provision would toll a four-year limitations period from May 9, 2008, when "the debt arose". If the Parties' agreement made an oral modification of the material terms to the written Original Agreement, the four-year statute of limitations for oral agreement would begin May 9, 2008.

[R. 170-171].

Generally, determining whether an oral agreement is a modification of a written agreement or a new contract is a question of fact. Ron Shepherd Ins. v. Shields, 882 P.2d 650, 655 (Utah 1994). However, when the facts are undisputed, questions of fact become questions of law. Coalville City v. Lundgren, 930 P.2d 1206, 1209 (Utah App. 1997) ("Generally, whether a breach is material is a question of fact to be decided by the jury, unless the facts are undisputed; then it is a question of law for the court.")

Since the facts surrounding the agreement to reduce the payment are not in dispute, whether the agreement was a modification to the Original Agreement or separate oral agreement is a question of law which this Court can decide. Cal Wadsworth Const. v. City of St. George, 865 P.2d 1373, 1375 (Utah App. 1993). Thus, Goldenwest assigns error to the conclusion that a narrow oral modification of a written agreement, which can be proven without resort to parol evidence, is subject to the four (4) year statute for oral agreements.

3. The agreement to reduce the payment was a modification.

As the moving party who bore the burden of establishing the elements and

supporting evidence of an issue on which she bore the burden of proof¹, Ms.

Kenworthy offered no law or analysis to explain when an oral agreement is a modification of a separate agreement. While there are Utah cases which state such a difference exists², there is no case law in Utah explaining the method for making this determination. Regardless, it is clear from existing Utah precedent that the reduction of the payment was a modification.

Utah courts have long recognized that oral modifications are enforceable, particularly where performance has occurred. Bamberger Co. v. Certified Productions, Inc., 48 P.2d 489, 88 Utah 194 (Utah 1935), R.T. Nielson Co. v. Cook, 40 P.3d 1119, 2002 UT 11 (Utah 2002). Ms. Kenworthy performed her obligation for May 2008 by paying \$200 on May 9, 2008. Her next payment was then due on June 15, 2008.

In Fisher v. Fisher, 907 P.2d 1172 (Utah App. 1995), this Court stated:

It is settled that the parties to a contract may modify all or any portion of that contract. Moreover, a condition precedent to enforcement of a modified contract is that there be a meeting of the minds of the parties, which must be spelled out, either expressly or impliedly, with sufficient definiteness.

Id. at 1177 (Internal quotations and citations omitted). The Court then held that the parties had a meeting of the minds and orally modified a written escrow agreement where they “narrowly modified” a single term of the

¹ Orvis v. Johnson, 2008 UT 2, 177 P.3d 600, ¶ 17.

² Ron Shepherd Ins., *supra*

contract—the due date of annual payments; and through their conduct, observed that modification. Here, Goldenwest and Ms. Kenworthy narrowly modified the Original Agreement by reducing the amount of the monthly payment. Their minds met when Ms. Kenworthy paid and Goldenwest accepted the \$200 payment on May 9, 2008.

Fisher further requires that any modification meet the requirements of the statute of frauds³:

The general rule is that any modification of a contract that is within the statute of frauds must also comply with the statute of frauds. When a contract is required to be in writing, the same requirement applies with equal force to any alteration or modification thereof. Under the Utah Statute of Frauds, the original escrow agreement was required to be in writing. Thus, at first blush, the oral modification seems to violate the statute of frauds. However, a recognized and accepted exception to the statute of frauds provides if a party has changed his position by performing an oral modification so that it would be inequitable to permit the other party to found a claim upon the original agreement the modified agreement should be held valid. Thus, where there is evidence of part performance under the modified agreement, and where it would be inequitable to permit a party to repudiate the oral modification and seek enforcement of the written contract, the oral agreement may be removed from the statute of frauds and enforced.

Id. at 1176-1177 (Internal quotations and citations omitted). Ms. Kenworthy fully performed the modified agreement by making her \$200 payment on May 9, 2008. Thereafter, as long as she continued to make her monthly \$200 payments, it would have been inequitable for Goldenwest to pursue an action

³ UTAH CODE ANN. § 25-5-4(1)(a) provides that a contract which by its terms cannot be performed within one year must be in writing.

against her for the full amount of any monthly payment – \$487.21.

4. The oral modification did not being the case within the statute of limitations for an oral agreement.

The trial court relied upon Strand v. Union Pacific Railroad /Co., 6 Utah 2d 279, 282, 312; P.2d 561, 563 (Utah 1957) for the proposition that oral terms of a written contract require application of the statute of limitation for oral agreements. [R. 171] In Strand, a contractor and railroad company verbally agreed to materially change several terms of their construction agreement. These included:

the railroad would make an adjustment including insurance and expenses so that [the contractor] would not lose a dime; that although the contract specified July 1, 1944, as the completion date, the railroad would extend the time to December, 1944, 'by Christmas'; that all costs and expenses from the beginning to the end of the job would be paid so that [the contractor] would be reimbursed for his losses; and that the railroad would pay for capital expenditures and depreciation on equipment in connection with the job.

Id. at 562.

However, in Strand, all of the evidence of the altered terms was parol, and the contract was a construction contract, which was not subject to the written requirements of statute of frauds. Therefore, Strand is inapplicable because: 1) the terms of the modification here can be proven without resort to parol evidence; and 2) this contract and oral modification are within the statute of frauds.

Strand is a construction case which adopts a rule from a Texas construction case, holding that contracts which are partly oral and partly written are governed by

the statute of limitations for oral agreements. However, Texas courts have recognized that if the oral portion of the agreement is within the statute of frauds, the contract is governed by the statute of limitations for written agreements.

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