2016

Goldenwest Federal Credit Union, a Utah Corporation, Plaintiff and Appellant v. Kathleen Kenworthy, Defendant and Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Appellant has failed to demonstrate trial court error. The issues raised by Appellant are either not preserved on appeal, harmless error, or supported only by Appellants own assertions to which neither the facts of this case nor Utah law support. Appellant’s claim is based on an oral agreement subject to the four-year statute of

limitations which expired prior to May 13, 2014 when Appellant filed its claim.

Therefore, Appellant's claim is barred and the trial court did not err in so ruling.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE #1. The Appellant's argument that the trial court neglected to properly analyze the loan liner contract ("contract") as an installment contract.

1. Appellant's Argument fails as it was not preserved for appeal.

The preservation rule is an essential part to our adversary system... This requires counsel to make a timely and specific objection on the record with evidence and legal authority to support it... If a party wishes to challenge on appeal the adequacy of the trial court's findings, trial counsel must first raise the objection in the trial court with sufficient clarity to alert the trial court to the alleged inadequacy... The responsibility for detecting error is on the party asserting it, not on the court... It generally would be unfair to reverse a district court for a reason presented first on appeal... Merely mentioning an issue does not preserve it... Objection at trial based on one ground... does not preserve for appeal any alternative ground for objection.

Utah Appellate Law Update Vol. 26 No. 6 Pg. 20 (internal citation omitted). In the present case, Appellant failed to argue in the trial court that the contract should be analyzed as an installment contract. While Appellant did argue that the statute of limitation did not begin to run on the contract until June 15, 2008, it did so under the premise that the entire contract was breached on that date and not just an installment. R.75 ¶ 6. Therefore, such argument was not preserved for this appeal.

Furthermore, Appellant failed to comply with URAP Rule 24(a)(5)(A) and (B). Such requires Appellant "to provide a citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court." URAP Rule 24(a)(5)(A) and (B). In the present case,

Appellant's brief does not contain the required citation or alternative statement of grounds. Therefore, such argument was not preserved on appeal.

2. *In the alternative, should this Court decide that such argument was preserved for appeal, such argument is harmless error as Appellant exercised its option to accelerate the alleged installments.* URCP Rule 61 states "The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties." URCP Rule 61. In the present case, the Appellant exercised its option to accelerate the alleged installments under the contract on May 9, 2008 causing the debt to arise, or in Appellant's words "performance due", on each installment before May 12, 2008 as found by the trial court. "[A]ll the acceleration clause does is accelerate the due date of future installments to the date of the exercise of the right of acceleration." See Appellant's Brief Pg. 7 (citing *Farmers Merchants Bank v. Templeton*, 646 S.W.2d 920, 923 (Tenn. App.1982)).

"[T]here must be some exercise of the option, some affirmative act showing an intent to elect to accelerate; and that the additional clause 'without demand of notice' means, simply, that the holder may exercise such option without giving to the maker any notice of such intention and without demand for payment of the unpaid balance which would thus be accelerated... such as by bringing suit thereon, or say, by entering the entire unpaid balance as immediately due and payable upon [the] books of account."

Carmichael v. Rice, 49 N.M. 114, 117 (N.M. 1945) (cited by *KLXX Inc. v. Stallion Music, Inc.*, 610 P.2d 1385 (Utah 1980). In the present case, the contract has an acceleration clause which states "when you are in default, the credit union can, *without*

advance notice to you, require immediate payment of what you owe on the loan and take possession of the property.” R.6 (emphasis added). On May 9, 2008, Appellant claimed insurance proceeds on the property in the amount of \$17,549.60 and applied such amount to the outstanding balance. R.41 and Appellant’s Brief Addendum #2 Pg. 5. Such affirmative act, despite no notice to Appellee as none was required, constitutes Appellant’s exercise of its option to accelerate any future installments, causing the debt to arise on each alleged installment before May 12, 2008 as found by the trial court. Therefore, the trial court’s alleged neglect to analyze the contract as an installment contract is harmless as the statute of limitations on each alleged installment still expired prior to May 13, 2014 when Appellant filed its claim.

3. Also in the alternative, should this Court decide that such argument was preserved for appeal and that Appellant did not exercise its option to accelerate the alleged installments, such argument is harmless error as the statute of limitations on each alleged installment still expired prior to May 13, 2014 when Appellant filed its claim.

URCP Rule 61 states “The court at every stage of the proceeding must disregard any error or defect in the proceeding which does not affect the substantial rights of the parties.” URCP 61. In the present case, the debt arose on each alleged installment of the oral agreement on or before April 15, 2010 causing the four-year statute of limitations on each alleged installment to expire no later than April 15, 2014 almost a month prior to May 13, 2014 when Appellant filed its claim. “The cause of action accrues on each installment when it becomes due and the installment begins to run from that moment on

that installment.” See Appellant’s brief Pg.7 (citing *Templeton*). In the present case, Appellants allege that Appellee owes a principle amount of \$4,614.02. R.2 ¶ 8. On May 9, 2008, the parties orally agreed to Appellee’s repayment of debt in the amount of \$200 per month. R.168 ¶ 2. The adjusted repayment term can be ascertained through calculation. See Appellant’s brief Pg. 15. Such term would require 23 months of \$200 payments to pay the principle amount ($\$4,414.02/\$200 = 23$ months), causing the debt to arise on each alleged installment by April 15, 2010 (23 months after June 15, 2008). Therefore, the trial Court’s alleged neglect to analyze the Contract as an installment contract is harmless as the four-year statute of limitations on each alleged installment still expired prior May 13, 2014 when Appellant filed its claim.

ISSUE #2. Appellant’s argument that the trial court erred in concluding that an oral modification to a written agreement is subject to four-year statute of limitations.

1. Appellant’s argument fails as Appellant had the burden of establishing that whether the oral agreement is a modification or a separate agreement is a genuine issue of material fact.

The moving party has the burden of presenting evidence to demonstrate that no genuine issue of material fact exists and that judgment as a matter of law is proper. However, once the moving party challenges an element of the nonmoving party’s case on the basis that no genuine issue of material fact exists, the burden then shifts to the nonmoving party to present evidence that is sufficient to establish a genuine issue of material fact.

Appellant’s brief Pg. 12 (citing *Orvis v. Johnson*, 177 P.3d 600, ¶ 17 (Utah 2008)).

Material fact is defined as crucial to the determination of the issue at hand. See Black’s Law Dictionary definition of Material Fact. In the present case, Appellee argued at trial

that whether the oral agreement is a modification or a separate agreement is not a genuine issue of material fact as both are oral obligations and subject to the four-year statute of limitations. R.285. Such challenge shifted the burden to the Appellant to establish sufficient evidence of a genuine issue of material fact. However, Appellant failed to meet this burden. Although Appellant argued that whether the oral agreement is a modification or a separate agreement is a question of fact, Appellant does not argue or supply evidence that is sufficient to establish that such fact is crucial to the determination of whether to apply the six or four-year statute of limitations. R.287. Therefore, Appellant failed to meet its burden and should not now be allowed to fault the trial court.

Furthermore, the trial court supported Appellee's argument that whether the oral agreement is a modification or a separate agreement is not a genuine issue of material fact. "[W]hether [the oral agreement] was a wholly new oral agreement ... or a modification to the Original Agreement ... the result is the same." R.171. In support of its conclusion, the Court cited the Strand case stating "where a specific material term of the contract in writing is subsequently changed orally, the statute of limitations for oral contracts applies." Strand v. Union Pacific Railroad Co., 312 P.2d 561, 563 (Utah 1957). Although Appellant now attempts to distinguish the Strand case from the present one, such effort is insufficient to establish a genuine issue of fact. Therefore, Appellant fails to meet its burden and should not now be allowed to fault the trial court.

2. Appellant's argument fails as Appellant incorrectly asserts that conditions precedent to enforcement of an oral modification also distinguish such from a separate agreement.

In its brief, Appellant asserts that part performance, meeting of the minds, statute of frauds, and a narrow change in terms distinguish the oral agreement as a modification. See Appellant's brief Pg. 12 & 13. However, such elements do not distinguish the oral agreement as a modification as such elements are also elements to establish a separate oral agreement. See *Goggin v. Goggin*, 267 P.3d 885, 893 ¶ 37 (Utah 2011) (stating "it is fundamental that a *meeting of the minds* on the integral features of an agreement is essential to the formation of a contract") and *Martin v. Scholl*, 678 P.2d 274, 275 (Utah 1983) (stating "that *part performance* allows a court of equity to enforce an oral agreement, if it has been partially performed notwithstanding the *statute [of frauds]*"). The only element set forth by Appellant that is not also an element to establish a separate oral agreement is a narrow change in terms. In support of this element, Appellant cites the Fisher case, in which a change in the due date of annual payments was held to be a narrow modification, and argues that such is analogous to the change of the amount due in the present case. However, the Court in the Fisher case expressly disagrees with such analogy stating "the modification as limited to the timing of payments only. It did not change the amount due." *Fisher v. Fisher*, 907 P.2d 1172, 1177 (Utah App. 1995). Therefore, the elements set forth by Appellant do not distinguish the oral agreement as a modification.

3. Appellant's argument fails as Appellant ineptly attempts to distinguish the Strand case.

In its brief, Appellant asserts that the Strand case is inapplicable because the terms of the modification can be proven without resort to parol evidence and the oral agreement is

within the statute of frauds. See Appellant's brief Pg. 14. However, the court in the Strand case does not rely, or even mention, either of these factors in affirming "the well-established rule that actions on contracts which are partly in writing and partly oral are subject to the statute of limitations covering oral contracts" *Strand* at 563. Converse to Appellant's assertion, the Strand case is very analogous to the present case. In the Strand case, an oral agreement was entered between the parties for the purpose of adjusting the manner and time of performance (i.e. insurance, expenses, costs, completion date, capital expenditures). In the present case, an oral agreement was entered between the parties also for the purpose of adjusting the manner and time of performance (i.e. payment amount, balance due, which adjusts completion date). R.168 ¶ 2.

Moreover, the only fact distinguishing the Strand case from the present case is that the written contract in the Strand case contained a clause providing for subsequent adjustments by oral agreement. However, even with such a clause, the court in the Strand case still ruled that "the contract becomes an oral one and any claim arising under such a contract is governed by the [statute of limitations for oral contracts]" *Strand* at 564. Therefore, the Strand case is applicable and, pursuant thereto, the entire contract, both written and oral terms, are subject to the four-year statute of limitations.

4. Appellant's Argument fails as Appellant's first ipse dixit assertion is not supported by relevant law. In its brief, Appellant incorrectly asserts that:

[W]here an agreement is governed by the statute of frauds and the evidence of the terms of the agreement are sufficient to meet the requirements of the statute of frauds, the written nature of the agreement is established and the

oral nature of any evidence is not determinative of the treatment of the contract.

See Appellant's brief Pg. 15. In support of its assertion, Appellant cites *Texas W. Ry. Co. v. Gentry*, 8 S.W. 98 (Texas 1888). However, the Gentry case does not support Appellant's assertion for the following reasons: (1) the Gentry case is limited to corporate resolutions and not relevant to the present case; (2) the Gentry case is a Texas case and not binding precedent in Utah; (3) the court in the Strand case did not cite the Gentry case but *Luglan v. Tomlin*, 287 S.W.2d 188 (Tex.Civ.App.-San Antonio 1956) to support its holding that "changing some of the terms rendered the contract part oral and part written, and the four year statute of limitations applies" *Strand* at 563; (4) the Luglan case, decided 68 years after the Gentry case, more adequately reflects the current position of the Texas court. Therefore, as Appellant's assertion is not supported by relevant law, such should not be adopted by this Court nor applied to the present case.

5. *In the alternative, should this court decide to adopt Appellant's assertion, Appellant's argument fails as the oral agreement does not satisfy the statute of frauds.* "[the] standard for sufficient part performance [is]: First, the oral contract and its terms must be clear and definite; Second, the acts done in performance of the contract must equally be clear and definite; and third, the acts must be in reliance on the contract." *Martin* at 275. In the present case, the terms of the oral agreement were not clear and definite. Although Appellee paid \$200.00 on May 9, 2008, it was not clear whether payments would remain at \$200.00. See Appellant's brief Addendum #2 Pg. 5 (stating "best for now may be able

to do more later”). Also, it is not clear whether such payments were to be applied to the entire balance on the note or remaining balance after offset of insurance proceeds. See Appellant’s brief Addendum #2 Pg. 5 (stating “payment of \$17,549.60 made on 05/08/08 toward \$487.21 payment). Also, as the payment amount and the balance due are not clear and definite the payment schedule and application of interest are also not clear and definite. Therefore, even if this Court adopts Appellant’s assertion, such is not satisfied in the present case.

6. *Appellant’s argument fails as Appellant’s second ipse dixit assertion is not supported by relevant law.* In its brief, Appellant incorrectly asserts that the oral agreement is subject to 6-year statute of limitations as the terms of the alleged modification does not require parol evidence. See Appellant’s brief Pg. 15-16. In support of its assertion, and contrary to its previous argument that the Strand case is inapplicable, Appellant cites the Strand case which states “it is true that a written promise to pay without naming the amount may be construed as founded on a written instrument *where an objective standard for determining the price is provided in the instrument.*” *Strand* at 563 (emphasis added). However, such statement is separate from the rule of law relied on by the court in Strand and not relevant to the present case. In the Strand case, immediately following the statement, the court uses the disjunctive conjunction “but” to separate the statement from the following rule of law: “where a specific material term of the contract in writing is subsequently changed orally, the statute of limitations applicable to oral contracts applies.” *Strand* at 563. The Court then continues by explaining why the rule of law and

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